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IN THE NAME OF BOSNIA AND HERZEGOVINA!

Number; X-KRZ-05/16)
Sarajevo, 23 October 2007

The Court of Bosnia and Herzegovina, in the Panel of the Appellate Division of Section
| for War Crimes, composed of Judge Azra Mileti¢ as the Presiding Judge, and Judges
Jose Ricardo Juan de Prada and Finn Lynghjem, as the Pancl members, with the
participation of Legal Advisor Melika Bu3aili¢ as the record-1aker, in the criminal case
against the accused Gojko Jankovi¢, for the criminal offence of Crimes against
Humanity in violation of Article 172 (1) (a), (d), (e), () and (g) of the Criminal Code of
Bosnia and Herzegovina (CC Bil), deciding upon the appeal of the defence counsel for
the Accused, attomcy Milan D. Trbojevié, filed against the Verdict of the Coun of
Bosnia and Herzcgovina No. X-KR-05/161 dated 16 February 2007, at the session held
in the presence of the Accused, his defence counsel, anomey Milan D. Trbojevi¢, and
the Prosecutor of the Prosecutor’s Office of Bosnia and Herzegovina David
Schwendiman, on 23 October 2007 rendered the following

VERDICT

The appea! filed by the defence counsel for the accused Gojko Jankovié is hercby
partially upheld and the Verdict of the Count of Bosnia and Herzegovina No. X-KR-
05/161 dated 16 February 2007 is modified in the legal qualification in regard to the
acts of the commission of the criminal offence of Crimes against Humanity referred 1o
in Article 172 (1) of the Criminal Code of Bosnia and Herzegovina of which he was
found guilty in the manner that the Accused committed the following:

Under Section |: imprisonment in violation of Anticle 172 (1) (¢) as read with Anticle 29
ol the CC BiH;

Under Section 2: murder, torture and imprisonment in violation of Anicle 172 (1) (a),
(f) and (e) of the CC BiH;

Under Scction 3: lorture and rape in violation of Arnticle 172 (1) () and (g) as read with
Article 31 of the CC BiH.

Pursuami 1o Anicle 138 (3) of the CPC BiH and Article 56 of the CC BiH, the time the
Accused spent in custody shall be credited towards the senience imposed, namely
starting from 14 March 2005 uniil he was committed 10 serve the sentence.

The first-instance Verdict remains unchanged in the remaining part.
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REASONING

Under the Verdict of the Court of Bosnia and Herzegovina No. X-KR-05/161 dated 16
February 2007 the accused Gojko Jankovié was found guilty of having committed the
criminal offence of Crimes against Humanity in violation of Article 172 (1) (a), (d), (e),
(f) and (g) of the CC BiH, namecly the acts described under Sections | through 7 of the
operative pan of the Verdict.

The first-insiance Panel sentenced him to long-tcrm imprisonment in the duration of
thiny-four (34) years and, pursuant to Article 56 of the CC BiH, the time spent in
custody as of 14 March 2005 onwards was credited towards the sentence. Pursuant 1o
Article 188 (1) of the CPC BiH, the Panel imposed an obligation on him 1o reimburse
the costs of the criminal proccedings, whereof a separate decision shall be rendered.

Pursuant to Articte 198 (2) of the CPC BiH the injured pariies have been advised to take
civil action to sele their property claim.

The defence counsel for the Accused, attomey Milan D. Trbojevi¢, appealed the Verdict
and the Prosecutor's Office of BiH submitied their response to the appeal.

The defence counsel for the Accused appealed on all grounds of appeal set forth under
Article 296 of the CPC BiH and proposcd to the Appellate Panel to uphold it, overtum
the contesied Verdict and schedule a re-irial.

In the reasoning of the appeal, the defence counsel for the Accuscd has noted that the
contested Verdicl is entircly in contravention of the in dubio pro reo principle, in other
words contrary 1o Article 3 (2) of the CPC BiH. With regard to the cssential violations
of criminal procedure provisions he noted that it is based on the violation of Article 297
(1) (a), (), (d), (i) and (k) of the CPC BiH.

With regard to the cssential violation of criminal procedurce provisions referred to in
item (a) of the refercnced Article (improper composition of the Count), the defence
counsel has noted that the composition of the Court was not based on the BiH
Constitution and that the appointment of international judges is contrary 10 the
constitutional and statutory regulations effective in BiH.

Furthermore, the defence counsel argucs that the fact that the main trial was held
without 1he presence of his client Icads 10 the violation of criminal procedure provisions
referred to in item (¢) of the referenced Anticle.

The defence counsel has also noted that during the proceedings the right of the Accused
10 a defence was violated and that the first-instance Verdict is based on cvidence which
it cannot be based. This reflccts the first-instance Panel deciding unjustifiably not 10
apply the principle of imminent presentation of evidence through reading of the
testimonies of protecled witnesses FWS-105 and FWS-186 and remove the Accused
from the courtroom. Given that the Verdict is based on the testimonies of protected
witnesses FWS.105, FWS-186, FWS-95 and FWS-75 which, in the opinion of thV'




defence counscel, cannot be used 10 base the Verdict thereon, it resulled in the above-
mentioned violation of the criminal procedure provisions. In support of the above-
mentioned, the defence counscl has noted that, according to the findings of the expen
witness, witness FWS8-95 is mentally ill, while her testimony was accepted by the
contested Verdict as reliable and convincing. The testimony of witness FWS-75 was
rcgarded as reliable by the first-instance Verdict, however, according to the assertions of
the appeal, it is clear that she was not telling the truth on several occasions.

The defence counsel) has noted that due 1o the failure 10 make a distinction between the
conflict and an attack by one side in the war, in the particular case it resulted in the
violation of the criminal procedure provisions reflerred to in Article 297 (1) (k) of the
CPC BiH. The above-mentioned ensues from the fact that at one point the contested
Verdict takes as cstablished from other Verdicts that “there existed a widespread,
systematic altack by the Army, the Police and paramilitary formations against the non-
Serb population in the wider area ol the Fota Municipality, whereby those civilians
were captured, physically abused and killed...”. In doing so, it does not state the
presence of the Army of RBiH in the conflict or the viciims on the side of Serb
civilians, while in the other part it concludes that “from 8 April 1992 until at least
February 1993, there was an armed conflict between Bosnian Serbs and Bosnian
Muslims in the area of Fota”, failing to statc who came into conflict with whom or the
fact that the mentioned conflict also resulied in victims on the pant of the Serb civilians.
Furthermore, as pointed out, the above-mentioned was merely to prejudice the Defence,
given that it was no longer possible lo prove anything in that regard, although the
communication of the Veterans’ Association of Fota presented 1o the Court ensues that
therc were civilian victims among the Serb civilians on several occasions, which is
something the contested Verdict failed 1o address.

The defence counsel also contested the firsi-instance Verdict due to the erroneously
cstablished state of facts by reasoning this ground of appeal in relation 10 some sections
of the convicting pan of the Verdict.

With regard to Seciion 1 of the operative pan of the Verdict it has been noted in the
appeel that the Verdict docs not contain reasoning conceming the imporiamt facts, in
other words, it does not contain reasoning with regard to the command responsibility of
the Accused. In addition, the defence counscl has notcd that the contesied Verdict does
not address indispulable facts in this pan, such as that some of the civilians were
retumed (o their homes, then deprived of liberty again and taken away, but without the
Accused being aware thercof or participating therein, although he was found guilty
conceming these cvents as well. -

With regard to Section 2 of the operative part of the Verdict, according to the assertions
of the appeal, the testimonies of witnesses were erroneously evaluated. This particularly
refers to the testimony of the witness Dr Nurudin Aséceri€, whose credibility was
explicitly put into question by the Defence. According to the appeal, he cannot be
regarded as a wilness since he has no knowledge of the specific facts. Furthermore, the
appcal has contesied the conclusion of the Court that the Accused had a de facto
command role in the entire operation on the Kremenik hill and has noted that the above-
mentioned has no foundation in the cvidence presented. /‘/




With regard 10 Section 3 of the operative pan of the Verdict, the appellant has noted that
cvidence was erroncously evaluated, with panicular reference 1o the testimony of
witness FWS-75.

With regard to Section 4 of the operative pan of the contested Verdict, the defence
counsel based his appellate argument on the testimonies of wilnesses FWS-95 and
FWS-75 arguing that no decision can be based on the testimony of witness FWS-95
given that she has been a mental patien1 over many years and mentally incompetent.

With regard 10 Section 5 of the operative pant of the Verdict, the Defence has noted that
the Trial Pane) inconsisiently departed from the application of the principle of
directness, The above-mentioned specifically refers to the fact that the testimony of
witness FWS-105 was read at the main trial although it should not have been done, nor
should the testimony of the witness have been used as evidentiary means, while prior
testimonies of other witnesses were not read out. The defence counsel, therefore, argues
that in the panticular case it was prejudicial to the Defence. The Defence has concluded
that the testimonies of the witnesses ar¢ indisputably inconsistent, particularly with
reference to witness FWS-105 and witness FWS-186 who subsequently changed
considcrably her testimony given 1o the Agency for [nvestigation and Documentation
(AID) conceming the force the Accused directly applied to her.

The above-mentioned argument of the appeal refers also 1o Sections 6 and 7 of the
operative part of the contested Verdict. Witness D.B. was also not an eye-witness (o the
event which allegedly refers 1o witness FWS-105 but only on the following moming,
when they had coffee and when she saw the expression on her face, could she conclude
she had been raped.

With regard 10 Section 7 of the operative part of the Verdict the Accused has been
particularly charped with the rape of a minor A.B. whose existence was not proven in
the proceedings given that there were no documents in support of that, nor did any
member of her family appear.

The defence counsel also contests the first-instance Verdict on the grounds of a
violation of the Criminal Code, which, according to the appellaie arguments, i5 a result
of a wrong legal qualification pursuant 1o the CC BiH and not CC SFRY which was in
force at the time of the commission of the offence and is more lenient and favourable
for the Acéused. In the particular case, the Accused should not have been charged with
the commission of the criminal offence of Crimes against Humanity referred to in
Article 172 of the CC BiHM but the criminal offence of War Crimes against the Civilian
Population referred 10 in Anicle 142 (1) of the CC SFRY.

With regard 10 Section | of the operative pan, charging the Accused with the acts of
commission referred 10 in Article 172 (1) (d) and (e) of the CC BiH (forcible transfer of
population and imprisonment), the defence counsel has noted that in the particular case
eight persons were captured by soldiers who were not subordinates 10 the Accused.
Some were relcased and then re-captured and taken to the Penal and Correctional .
Institution /KPDY/, but the defence counsel denied his client knew or took part thereto. /




The description of the criminal acts, according to the appellate arguments, corresponds
to the description of the criminal acts conceming the charges under item (e) but not also
under item (d) of the Anrticle.

With regard to Section 2, the appetlant has noted that the acts of commission with which
the Accused has been charged cannot be qualified as a murder and the ransfer of
population but the deprivation of liberty of civilians who were subsequently released.

Furthermore, with regard to Scciions 3, 4, 5 and 7 of the operative part (torture and
rape) the defence counsel has submitied that the criminal offence of rape includes the
criminal offence of torture in this situation and that there cannot exist a concurrence of
offences,

With regard 10 Scction 6, the appellant has noted that the commitled acis were qualificd
as lorture and sexual slavery withoul a ground thereof, given that slavery did not exist.
The injured parties voluntarily agrecd 1o be protecied in such a situation, they
themselves chose the lesser evil in order not 1o be left to uncenainty with a group of
soldiers. According to the appellate arguments, the above-memioned might be qualified
as rape but without the responsibility of the Accused in that regard. In addition, the fact
that the Accused allegedly used and abused such a situation cannot be linked to him.

The defence counsel has also contested the first-instance Verdict on the grounds of the
decision concerning the senience and the costs of the criminal proceedings, noting that
by applying the rclevant provisions of the CC SFRY the sentence referred to in Aricle
142 (1), and nol long-term imprisonment, should be imposed on the Accuscd.

The defence counsel also noted that the first-instance Panet in the contested Verdicy,
while meting out the punishment, found no mitigating circumstances on the pan of the
Accused. As the defence counsel has noted, mitigating circumstances reflect in the fact
that the Accused volumarily surrendered himself, he acted in a feir manner and
cooperated with the Court, and his health situation, in which medical documents were
submitted in suppon thereto.

Furthermore, the appeal has comesied the decision of the Coun on the costs of the
proceedings and proposed that pursuant 10 Article 188 (4) of the CPC BiH the Coun
relieve the Accused of the costs. The Defence relates the above-mentioned with the fact
that the ICTY has already established that the Accused had no mcans 10 choose a
defence counsel and, therefore, one was assigned to him ex officio.

The Prosecutor’s Office of BiH has submitied its response to the appeal, proposing thal
it be dismissed in its entircty, and that the firsi-instance Verdict be upheld. As for the
decision of the Court on the reimbursement of the costs of the criminal proceedings, il
has noled that the decision should be upheld or modified in the event that the Appellate
Panel find is appropriate.

At the session of the Appellate Panel held on 23 October 2007 for the purpose of Article
304 of the CPC BiH, the defence counsel for the Accused submitted, in brief, the




arguments of the appeal while the Prosecutor submitted his response to the appeal, and
both parnties adhered entirely to their presented arguments and proposals.

Having reviewed the contested Verdict within the limits of the appellaie arguments, the
Appeilaie Panel rendered the decision as stated in the operaiive pan due to the reasons
that follow:

According to the assessment of this Panel, the appeilaie argumenis pointing at the
essential violations of provisions of the criminal proceedings, namely with regard to
Article 297 (1) (a), (c), (d), (i) and (k) of the CPC BiH, arc entirely groundless. To wit,
the issue of consideration of the constitutionality of the Law on the Court of Bosnia and
Herzegovina does not constitute an appellate argument defined in Article 297 (1) (a) of
the CPC BiH, therefore, the Appellaie Panel of the Court does not have jurisdiction 10
consider the referenced issue. However, as regards the issuc, the Constitutional Count of
BiH has rendered its decision in the case No. U-26/0} finding the argument unjustified.

Furthermore, Anicle 24 of the CPC BiH prescribes that the Panel of the Coun’s
Criminal Division composcd of three judges shall adjudicate in first instance. Anlicle 65
{4) of the Law on the Coun of Bosnia and Herzegovina stipulates that several
intemational judges may bc appointed 10 Section | in the transitional period. Pointless
are the appellate arguments by the defence counsel who submitted that there did not
cxist constitutional authorities 1o establish the Count of BiH, as well as 10 appoint
international judges, because the Constitutional Court of Bosnia and Herzegovina
rendered a decision on merits of the case No. AP 1785/06 ruling on the appeal filed by
Abduladhim Makiouf.

Groundless is the appellatc argument of the defence counsel noting that the main trial
was held without the presence of the person whose presence was necessary pursuant (0
the law. To wit, during the main 1rial, on 31 August 2006 the first-instance Panel
rendered a decision pursuant to Article 10 of the Law on Protection of Witnesses under
Threat and Vulnerable Witnesses ruling that while witnesscs E and J were examined the
Accused should be removed from the courtroom. The firsl-instance Panel gave a
detailed reasoning for rendering the decision in the contesied Verdict. It ensues from the
above-mcentioned that by ruling on the reasoned Motion of the Prosccutor's Office of
BiH and following the submission of the panies and the defence counsel, the first-
instance Panel rendered 2 decision for the purpose of Anticle 235 of the CPC BiH 10
exclude the public during the tcstimony of witnesses E and J, primanly trying to protect
their personal and privaic life. In order to further protect the wilnesses pursuant to
Anicle 10 of the Law on the Protection of Witnesses, the Panel rendered the decision 10
remove the Accused from the courtroom during the testimony of the witnesses. At the
same time, the firsi-instance Panel decided 1o allow the Accused 10 follow their
testimonies using technical means for transferring the image and sound in order 1o be
able, following the direct examination, 10 consult his defence counsel conceming the
cross examination. Contrary to the appellaiec arguments, the principle of the ban on trial
in absentia was not violated by such conduct, nor was the Accused prevented from
obscrving the trial and \aking pan in the main trial. The mentioned decision, according
to this Panc), was rendered in its cntirety and in the context of the guaranteces sceured by

Anicle 6 of the European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR). Thererore/_/"




ungrounded is the appellate argument of the defence counsel noting that the right to a
defence was violated. To wit, standards sct by Anicic 6 of the ECHR which are
applicable to the panicular procedural issue, require that the Accused be informed
promptly, in a language which he undersiands and in desail, of the nature and cause of
the accusation against him, which was indisputably done during the first hearing before
the Preliminary Hearing Judge, by holding the plca hearing and opening the main tnial
by reading the Indictment. Furthermore, the Accused had the possibility to follow the
direct examination of witnesses and consult the defence counsel conceming the cross
examination. The right to a defence has been guaranteed by Anicle 7 of the CPC BiH
by providing the right 10 the Accused to defend himself with the professional aid of a
defence atlomey and by providing that he must be given sufTicient time 1o prepare a
defence. In addition to the aforesaid, Anticle 6 (3) of the ECHR gives the right (o the
Accused 10 examine or have ¢examined the witnesses against him. Having in mind the
above-mentioned, and although the CPC docs not explicitly prescribe such a procedural
situation, the Law on the Protection of Witnesses in the panticular case constitutes a fex
specialis, and although the mentioned righis of the Accused were partially limited it was
done in accordance with the statutory limitations and the ruling provided that the
Accused follow the course of the main trial adequately, without violating his right 0 a
defence.

Funthermore, the first-instance Pancl rendercd a decision to pantially grant the
Prosecution Motion for the exceplion regarding the imminem presentation of evidence
concerning wilnesses FWS-105 and FWS-186, pursuant 1o Anicle 273 (2) of the CPC
BiH, Article 11 of the Law on the Protection of Witnesses and Anicles 5 and 7 of the
Law on the Transfer of Cases. This decision was rcasoned in detail in the contested
Verdict. The first-instance Pancl correctly applied the standards cstablished by the
Junisprudence of the European Court of Human Rights, and as reasoned in deiail in the
contested Verdict, reading out the statements of the witnesses given in the course of the
investigation per se does not constitute a violation of Article 6 (3) (d) of the ECHR if
the righis of the defence have been complied with. Having in mind that the contested
Verdict gives a detailed reasoning of all the steps taken by the Court 10 ensure the
presence of the wilnesses, nol basing their decision exclusively or crucially on those
slatements, it is the assessment of this Pancl that the Panel in the firsi-instance
procecdings met the necessary requirements and thus the rights of the Accused have not
been violated.

It is the assessment of the Appellate Panc) thai the appellatc argument of the defence
counsel that the contested Verdict is bascd on evidence which may not be used as the
basis of a verdict, namely the grounds for appeal referred 1o in Anticle 297 (1) (i) of the
CPC Bil, is unjustified duc to the reasons that follow. In his appezl, the appellani
submits an analysis of the subsiance of the evidence, namely the testimonies of
witnesses FWS-105, FWS-186, FWS-95 and FWS-75, failing to state pursuant 10 which
statutory provisions these pieces of cvidence would be unacceptable. The arguments of
the appeal refer 1o the assessment of the mentioned evidence and not its admissibility.
According to this Panel, as regards witness FWS-95, the first-instance Panel carefully
evaluated the lestimony of FWS-95 in accordance with the principle of free evaluation
of cvidence, taking into consideration her psychological problems which are a
conscquence of the crime committed againsi her, and by relating her testimony with \he/,' '




lestimony of expert witness Marija Kom3i¢ and the testimony of wilness FWS-87. The
first-instance Pane! correctly concluded that it was reliable evidence and the conclusion
has been accepted by this Panc! in its entirety.

Furthermore, as regards witness FWS-75, the appellant’s argument regarding the
evaluation of the credibility of the witness fails to provide any point of reference for his
asscriions. The appellam groundlessty noted that FWS-75 recognised the voice of the
Accused coming from a walkie-talkie, even though she had never heard the voice
before. However, the testimony of this wilness clearly siates that she recognised the
voice of the Accused becausc she knew him well. As regards the testimonies of
witnesses FWS-105 and FWS-186, the appcllant noted that they should not have been
used, failing to offer any explanation for such an asscriion. The statcments of these
witnesses have been accepted pursuant to Article 273 (2) of the CPC BiH and Article 11
of thc Law on the Protection of Witnesses, following a detailed and careful
consideration of the existence of statutory grounds for such. a decision which was
reasoned in detail by the first-instance Pancl in the contested Verdict. In addition to that,
according to the assessment of this Panel, the first-instance Panel complicd with the
standards set forth by the jurisprudence of the European Court of Human Rights and did
not exclusively or crucially base its decision on those pieces of evidence.

According 10 the assessment of thc Appellaie Panel and contrary to the arguments of the
appeal, the firsi-instance Verdict is not incomprehensible or contradiclory 1o itself or 10
the grounds of the Verdict. To wit, the appecllant groundlessly noted that the first-
instance Panel should not have concluded that there existed a widespread and systematic
attack against the non-Serb population in the termitory of Foa, while at the same time
there existed the Army of BiH and viciims on the Serb side, which, according to the
arguments ol the appellant, is contradictory 10 the established fact accepted from the
ICTY case - Kunarac et al. that at the relevant time there was a conflict between
Bosnian Scrbs and Bosnian Muslims in the territory of the Fota Municipalily.
According 10 the assessment of this Panel, an aitack and armed conflict are separate
elements and are treated as such by the ICTY jurisprudence, for example in the Kunarac
ef al. casc, the ICTY Appellate Chamber held that “the attack could precede, outlast, or
continue during thc armed conflict, {and may be) but it need not be a pan of it".
Furthermore, the appcllant groundlessly noted thait the first-instance Panel failed 10 take
into consideration the fact that there were victims on the Serb side as well. To wit, while
establishing whether therc was an attack against a civilian population, it is irrefevant
whether the other side also committed crimes against the civilian population of the
opposing party. The existence of the attack of one side against the civilian population on
the other side would not justify the atlack on the civilian population of the opposing
parly, nor could a conclusion be drawn on that basis that the 1arget of the forces of the
other side actually was the civilian population as such. Any attack against the civilian
population of the other side would be equally unlawful, and the crimes committed as
part of such an attack, with all other requirements met, would constitute crimes against
humanity (see Kunarac et al, Trial Chamber Judgement dated 12 June 2002).
According to the asscssment of the Appellate Panel, the existence of the armed conflict
was nol in coniradiction with the existence of a widespread and sysiematic attack
against the civilian population, and the existence of victims outside the group which was




the target of the atiack did not contradict the existcnce of the attack, and thercfore this
argument of the defence counsel is 1o be dismissed.

With regard 10 Section | of the conviction, the appellant has noted that the firsi-instance
Panel failed to reason the grounds for the conclusion that the Accused commanded the
group of soldiers that atlacked the hamlet of Brezine/Zuboviéi. This Panel finds the
appeliate argument groundless in its entirety. In the Verdict, the first-instance Panel
gave a detailed reasoning of the evidence based on established facts and circumstances
which the first-instance Panel drew from to conclude on the role of the Accused, which
is the conclusion entirely accepted by this Panel. Contrary to the arguments of the
appeal, and as correctly reasoned and established by the firsi-instance Panel, the
Prosecution witnesses themselves stated that the Accused had the command role, which
was also confirmed by wilnesses B, Ferida Gludac and Enes Hmjié, who also testificd
about the order issued by the Accused 10 scparate men from women and to take them
away. Finally, the appellant pointlessly noled that the contested Verdict does not contain
a reasoning of the conclusion that the Accused ordered that fire be opencd at houses,
because the first-instance Panel did not draw such a conclusion in the contesied verdict,

Furthermore, the appellant noted that Section 1 of the convicting part of the Verdict is
contradiclory as it also contains assertions that civilians were captured and taken away
by other soldiers who were not under the command of the Accused. This appellate
argument is groundless in its entirety because the first-instance Pane! did not establish
in the contesled Verdict that someone ¢lsc captured the civilians and not the soldiers
under the command of the Accused and who complied with his explicit orders. Based
on the testimony of three cye-witnesses, the first-instance Panel correctly established
that it was a person under the control of the Accused, and that the person in question,
while obeying his order, took the captured male civilians away from the place of their
capiure and 1ook them in the direction of Brod, which is ¢learly implied in the testimony
of witness Encs Hmjidié who was in the group that was taken away.

Furthermore, based on the presented evidence in the form of witness testimonies and
physical evidence, the firsi-instance Panel legitimately concludes that Radmilo Babié
was the plaioon commander for the sake of formality, whereas the Accused had the
actual control. Such a conclusion of the firsi-instance Panel regarding the role of the
Accusced is confirmed by the letter of the General Administration Department, Fota, No.
04-835/4 dated 22 January 2007 which reads that Gojko Jankovié was the unit lcader at
least as of April 1992.

Finally, the Appellant submits that the firsi-instance Verdict failed to consider the fact
that at one point some of the imprisoned civilians werc taken back to their homes, but
shortly thercafier they were again taken into caplivity without the knowledge and the
participation of the Accused, yet the Accused was found guilly of that as well.

h emails from the testimony of the witness B and Ferida Glusac that two or three days
following the caplure, two men were brought back 1o their homes for a short while
before they were again transferred to KPD. This Panel finds that the said fact is not a
decisive fact which would afTcet the criminai liability of the Accused. The first-instance
Verdict found the Accused guilty of the original deprivation of liberty based on a dircct 4




intem, and of their imprisonment based on an indirect intention, since he could have
predicted that his actions would result in a long-term imprisonment of those men. The
fact that two of thc men were taken back 10 their homes for just 15 minutes after which
they were again taken to custody is not important to such a degree as o affect the
linkage of cause and effect between the actions of the Accused and the imprisonment of
the men. The Accuscd was not found guilty of the specific cases of abuse to which those
men were subjugated during (heir incarceration (murders, beatings) but the imponant
part in regard of the Accused's guilt is the prediciable result, that is, the consequence of
his actions which was the imprisonment of those men. The Panel does not find relevant
the fact that someone else took two men out of detention and then brought them back.
Mindful of the aforementioned, the Panel finds this appcllaic argument unfounded in its
entirety.

With regard 10 Section 2 of 1he convicling part of the Verdict, the Appellant challenges
the relerence of the contested Verdict to the testimony of Dr Nerudin Adderié and
submits that the docior docs not have any direct knowledge of any specific facts and
that his credibility is doubtful. The Appellant, however, does not make a conncction
between Lhe testimony of this witness and a specific finding or conclusion of the first-
instance Panel. This Panel finds that the arbitrarily made and unsubstantiated arguments
of the Apptllant failed to challenge the credibility and reliability of this witness who,
afler all, did not 1estify on his direct knowledge of the events covered by this Section of
the first-insiance Verdict, but he corroborates the testimonies of some of the witnesses
who were injured parties wilth regard 1o specific circumstances, that is, his evidence
amounts 0 corroborative evidence.

The Appcllant, funhermore, challenges the reference made in the first-instance Verdict
10 the letter of the Foéa Tactical Group Commandcer, Colonel Marko Kovad, No.
01/705-1 dated 13 August 1993, which conlains a proposal 1o proclaim the Accused as
“Vojvoda™ (“the Duke") and submits that such a proposal is “obvious nonsense of some
likely drunken commander.” This arbitrarily made and unsubsiantiated appeliate
argument is unfounded in its cniircly because the said document is not the only
document based on which the firsi-instance Panel drew a conclusion about the
Accused's role. The first-instance Panel legitimately ¢valuated this physical evidence in
the context of many other documents and wilness testimonies, and provided an
exiensive reasoning of the conclusion that the Accused was the platoon leader at the
critical period of time. This Panel accepis such conclusion in its entirety.

Furthermore, the Appellant submits that the finding that the Accused had a de facro
commanding role in the overall operation on Kremenik hill is wrong and without any
basis in the presented evidence. The Appellant funther states that such conclusion was
drawn in order to conceal the fact that some soldicrs who participated in it were
members of units other than the platoon that was under the command of the Accused. It
transpires from the 1estimonics of the witnesses such as FWS-75, FWS-88, DB, FWS-
96, FWS 105, FWS 74 and FWS-87, that thc Accused commanded the group of soldicrs
which atlacked them; the size of that group approximately matches the size of a platoon.
Furthermore, all the findings of the firsi-instance Panel related 10 the fact that the
Accused commanded the operation on Kremenik hill, point to the group of soldicrs who
pantiicipated in the auack, the size of which equal the size of plaicon. The /"




aforementioned testimonies clearly entai) the conclusion of the firsi-instance Panel that
the Accuscd was the de facio commander of that group of soldiers in as much as he
issued orders which they carried out. The term “de facto commander” was not used by
the first-instance Panel in order 10 expand the responsibility of the Accused but in order
10 conclude that some soldiers who executed the orders of the Accused on that day were
not members of his platoon but were re-subordinated to the Accused for the purpose of
that specific operation. This Panel accepts such conclusion in its entirety, wherefore the
appellate arguments 1hat the siate of facis was incompletely and erroncously established
in Section 2 of the convicting part of the firsi-instance Verdict are unfounded in their
cntirety.

With regard to Section 3 of the convicting part of the Verdict, the Appellant submits
that the findings under this Scction came as a result of the erroneous evaluation of
evidence and particularly of the reference to the testimony of Witness FWS-75. The
Appellate Panel finds thai this appellate argument is unfounded in its entirety because
the first-instance Panel Jegitimately and lawfully cxplained the way in which the
testimonies and exhibits were evaluated with respect 1o all Counts of the [ndiciment,
including this count as well. Article 15 of the CPC of BiH provides for onc of the basic
principles of criminal procedure, that is, the principle of frce evaluation of evidence,
according lo which the Court has the nght to freely evaluate the existence or non-
existence of facts without being limited to special formal evidentiary neles that would @
priori determine the value of evidence. In (hat regard, the Court is obligated 10
conscientiously evaluate each piece of evidence individually and in the context of other
pieces of evidence, and 10 draw a conclusion on whether some fact was proven or not
upon such evaluation of evidence. The evaluation of evidence is both logical and
conscientious. In thai regard, the first-instance Panel provided an extensive rcasoning
of cach individual piece of evidence and of the context of all pieces of cvidence
presented within this section of the challenged Verdict, and provided an exiensive
rcasoning as 10 which facts were found proven. The firsi-instance Panel, furthermore,
provided a reasoning of its conclusion d, although only the wilncss FWS-75 1estified on
her interrogation and gang rape, the remaining pant of her testimony was directly and
indirectly substaniiated by the testimonics of other witnesses. This Panel aceepts such
conclusion in its entirely. This Panel finds that the first-instance Panel rightfully
evaluated the testimony of the witness FWS-75 and, therefore, the appellate argument in
this regard is refuscd as unfounded.

With regard lo Section 4 of the convicting part of the Verdict, the Appctlant challenges
the belief of the firsi-instance Pancl in the testimony of the witness FWS-95 and all the
conclusions which were drawn based on her testimony. The Appellant submits that the
witness FWS-95 altered her previous siatement 1o such a degree that the only logical
conclusion would be that she planned it with someone. The Appellam, funthermore,
submits that the testimony of the wiiness FWS-95 pentaining to the mass-scale rape at
the football stadium was “'so unbelicvable” that it needs more than one confirmation in
order 1o be accepted as valid, further staling that the witness has had psychiatric
trcatment for many years, which praclically makes her mentally incapable. The witness
FWS-95 cxplained the reasons for which she did not mention the events in her statement
made in 1996, by siating that she thought it would be a brief statement during which she
was not able to recount cverything and that she now lakes medicalions and is able 10
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remember more things. Furthcrmore, a neuropsychiatrist expert witness Dr Koméi¢
siaied that the witness FWS-95 was capable of providing valid testimony although she
suffercd from PTSP. Bascd on the aforementioned, the first-instance Panel properly
drew a conclusion that the witness FWS-95 was a reliable witness, all the more because
her testimony was substantiated by the testimony of the witness FWS-87. With regard to
the contents of the testlimony of the witness FWS-95 pentaining to the mass-scale rape al
the stadium, this Panel is satisfied that the first-instance Verdict was reached upon the
Indiciment of the Prosecutor’s Office of Bosnia and Herzegovina No. KT-RZ-163/05
which does not cover, nor is the Accused charged with that event, wherefore it was not
considered in the challenged Verdict at all, which makes the respective appellate
argument irelevant for the decision-making upon the appeal filed against the first-
instance Verdicl.

With repard 10 Section 5 of the convicting pant of the Verdict, the Appellant reiterates
the argument that the first-instance Panel was wrong in granting and presenting the
statement of the witness FWS-105 which was read out, and emphasizes that the first-
instance Pane! should have presented atl the statements madc by the witness FWS-105
so that possible discrepancies might be examined. The first-instance Panel provided an
extensive reasoning for not granting the statement of the witness made to the ICTY
because it was made in the criminal case against Kunaruc el al. where the Accused
Kunarac, Kovat and Vukovié had a de jure opportunily 1o ¢ross examine the witness in
the main rial before the ICTY where they might have tned 10 exonerate themselves by
putting blame on other persons who were involved, including the Accused Gojko
Jankovi¢, The Panel is (ully satisfied that the first-instance Panel made a proper
conclusion by stating that this raises a considerable degree of suspicion with regard 10
reliability and overall faimess, which constitutes a violation of the ECHR siandards.
Furthermore, the statement of the witness FWS-105, which was read out in the main
irial of Gojko Jankovic, was substantiated by the testimony of the witness DB who was
together with the wiltness FWS-105 1aken by the Accused and “Beba™ 10 the housc in
Tmovata, upon which “Beba™ took her to a room and raped her, while the witness
FWS-105 remained in the company of the Accused. Although DB did not see the rape
of FWS-10S, she concluded that FWS-105 had undergone the same turmoil because of
the way she looked the following moming when DB saw her, but also based on DB’s
own experience. Besides that, the first-instance Panel provided an extensive reasoning
in the contested Verdict for its decision which was also based on the testimonies of the
wilnesses FWS-75 and FWS-96 who testificd of what happened with the witness FWS-
105. Given the aforementioned, the Pancl is satisfied that the first-instance Panel drew a
proper conclusion that the Accused raped the witness FWS-105 in the manner described
under Section 5 of the first-instance Verdict,

With regard to Section 6 of the conviciing part of the Verdict, the Appcllant refers 1o the
inconsisiencies between the statement that the witness FWS-186 made to AID stating
that she consented 10 sexual intercourse with the Accused and her subsequent siatements
that she was raped at a gunpoint. This argument of the appeal is also unfounded in its
entircty. To wit, the statement 1hat the witness FWS-186 gave 10 AID was not presented
in the case file. The Prosccutor did not use that statement and he did not move the Panei
to read it out in the main tnal. Having consulted the case file, it is established that the

Prosecutor submitted the respective statement to the defence along with othf.
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evidentiary material attached 10 the Indictment, but he did not use it in the main trial.
Furthermore, it transpires that the defence had a copy of the respeclive statement at its
disposal throughout the proccedings, but failed to submit it as a defence exhibit. Article
295 (4) of the CPC of BiH reads thal new facts and new evidence, which despite due
atiention and cautiousness were nol presented at the main trial, may be presented in the
appeal. The appellant has to stale the reasons for which such evidence was not
previously presented. Contrary to this provision, in his appeal the Appellant did not
state the reasons for which he failed to tender the said statement of the witness FWS-
186 in the course of the main tnal. Furthermore, bearing in mind that the defence had a
copy of the statement, this Panel finds that the appeal by the Defence Counsel indicates
his own negligence and conscious maneuvering.

With rcgard to Secction 7 of the convicling part of the first-instance Verdict, the
Appcllant chalicnges the existence of an underage A.B. but fails to substantiate such
averment. The Appcllalc Pancl, therefore, finds this argument unfounded in its entirety.
Based on the extensive and cohcrent 1estimonics of the witnesses FWS-75, FWS-87,
FWS-132 and FWS-191, the firsi-instance Panel found that the Accused raped the
underage A.B. in the fashion cxtensively described under Section 7 of the first-instance
Verdicl, thereby, the Appellate Panel accepts such conclusion in its entirety. in their
testimonies, the aforementioned witnesses clearly and specifically mentioned an
underage girl A.B. who was 12 years old and known to them. Bascd on their testimonies
it transpires that the underage A B. did exist. The facs that it is not known what became
of the underage A.B. is not a cntical fact in terms of the Accused’s criminal liability
because, based on the testimonies of the aforementioned witnesses, it can be assumed
with a high level of likelihood that the underage A.B. is not alive.

Unfounded is also the Defence Counsel’s argument that Article 298 of the CPC of BiH
was violated because the Court applied the CC of Bil instead of the Criminal Code of
SFRY which was in force al the time when the criminal offence was commitied and,
according to the defence counsel, more lenient 1o the perpetrator. In terms of the
application of subsiantivc law, the first-instance Panel provided extensive and valid
reasoning in terms of departing from the principle of lawfulness and the valid timeframe
of the criminal code, and also in tcrms of the status of crimes against humanity in
international customary law, with the conclusion that the punishment prescribed under
the Criminal Code of Bild is nonetheless more lenient than the capital punishment
which was prescribed at the time when the criminal offence was committed. The
Appellaie Panel accepts this conclusion in its entirety and finds that the appellate
arguments are not sufTicient 10 challenge the extensive and exhauslive reasoning of the
firsi-instance Panel.

Notwithsianding the aforementioned, the Appetlant’s argument is well-founded in
stating that the criminal code was violated by the actions the Accused is charged with
under Sections 1 and 2 of the operative pant of the first-instance Verdict which were
legally qualified as a forcible transfer of population and imprisonment in violation of
Anticle 172 (1) (d) and (¢) as rcad with Anticle 29 of the CC of BiH under Section |, and
as murders, tortures and a forcible transfer of population in violation of Anicle 172 (1)
(a), () and (d) as rcad with Anicle 29 of the CC of BiH under Section 2. The
Appellant’s argument is well-founded that the specific situation under Scciion | oflhc/ .




challenged Verdict deals with the capture of eight persons and that the factual
description pertains (o the deprivation of liberty and imprisonment as prescribed under
Article 172 (1) (¢) of the CC of BiH, which also applies to the factuai description under
Section 2 which doces not have any elements for the legal qualification of the transfer of
population but of the deprivation of libenty of civilians. To wit, in order 10 establish the
crime of imprisonment as a crime against humanity the following clements must be
cstablished: i) an individual is deprived of his or her liberty; ii) the deprivation of liberty
is imposed arbitrarily, that is, no legal basis can be invoked 10 justify the deprivation of
liberty; iii) the act or omission by which the individual is deprived of his or her physical
liberty is performed by the accused or a person or persons for whom the accused bears
cnminal responsibility with the intent to deprive the individual arbitrarily of his or her
physical liberty, or in the reasonable knowledge that his act or omission is likely 10
cause arbitrary deprivation of physical libeny. (see Paragraph 113, Judgment of the
Trial Chamber in the Krnojelac case dated 15 March 2002). The first-instance Panel
rightfully established on the basis of the presented pieces of evidence thar the
depnvation of physical libeny of eight men was imposed arbitrarily without any legal
basis, which constitutes the ¢rime of imprisonment or other deprivation of libenty in
violation of basic rules of international law. With regard 10 Scction 1 of the operative
part of the challenged Verdici, the Accused had a direct intent in the very beginning o
deprive them of liberty and had an indirect intent to keep them imprisoned in the Jong
term, bearing in mind that it was predictabic, bascd on the given circumstances, that
those ¢ight men would be kept in captivily for a rather long period of time (10 wit, a
rather Jarge contemporancous operation of capturing other persons), as well as with
regard to Section 2, in the pant in which il was established that women and children
werc laken away in the manner reasoned in the challenged Verdict. Contrary to thai, the
established state of facts under Sections 1 and 2 of the operative part of the Verdict does
not provide sufficient ground for the following elements of forcible transfer of
population 1o be met: i) forcible transfer of individuals by moving them or by other
cocrcive actions out of the area where they legally reside 10 other locations within the
staie border without any basis under ihe international law and ii) the intention of the
perpetrator to forcibly move out individuals where the intention does not neccessarily
have to refer 10 permanent transfer. The first-instance Panel provided reasoning for the
first clement only, et the same time (ailing 1o apply the second requirement covered by
the definition of forcible transfer.

Therclore, Sections | and 2 of the challenged Verdict righifuliy and compleicly
establish the state of facts but draw a wrong lcgal conclusion, which resulied in the
wrong application of substantive law. For that rcason, the appecal of the Defence
Counsel was upheld and the challenged Verdict partly revised in as much as the
challenged Verdic1 is revised in terms of the legal qualification of the actions
constituting Crimes against Humanity in violation of Article 172 (1) of the CC of BiH
of which the Accused was found guilly as follows: under Scction 1 - imprisonment in
violation of Article 172 (1) (e) as read with Article 29 of the CC of BiH; under Section
2 - murders, tortures and imprisonment in violation ol Anicle 172 (1) (a), (N and (¢) as
rcad with Anicle 29 of the CC of BiH.

Furthermore, the Appellant submits that the firsi-instance Panel violated the Criminal
Codc by providing the legal qualification of thc Accused’s actions as 1orture and rape in /

14




violation of Article 172 (1) (f) and (g) of the CC of BiH in Scetions 3, 4, 5 and 7 of the
convicling part of the Verdict, and submits thai there cannot be any concurrence of
these two criminal offences since the offence of rape includes the offence of torture.
The Panel finds this argument unfounded in its entirety. This Panel finds that the wwo
criminal offences are in an ideal concurrence where each requires considerably difTerent
clements 10 be proved. To wit, the firsi-instance Panel legitimately found that
cumulalive convictions based on the same conduct are permitted, providing that each of
the crimes contains a distinct element which requires proof of a fact not required by the
other. This Panel upholds such position in its entirety. The cniminal offence of rape
requires the element of sexual penetration 10 be proven, which at the same time is not an
element required by the criminal offence of toriure. The criminal offence of torture,
however, requires the forbidden intention such as obtaining information or a confession,
or punishing, intimidating or coercing the victim or a third person, or discriminating, on
any ground, against the victim or a third person. (see Kunarac et al., Paragraph 142,
Judgmeni of the Appeals Chamber duted 12 June 2002). Given the aforementioned, the
Panel finds the Appellant’s argument unfounded in its entirety.

With repard 1o Section 6 of the convicting pan of the Verdict, the Appellant submits
that the first-instance Panel violated the Criminal Code by providing the legal
qualification of actions under this Section both as torture and sexual slavery in violation
of Article 172 (1) (f) and (g) of the CC of BiH. The appcliate argument is unfounded in
its entirety. The first instance-Panel legitimately applicd the following ¢lements that
constitute the crime of sexual slavery: i) intentional excreise of any or all of the powers
attaching 10 the right of ownership over a person; ii) the perpetrator subjected a victim
to scxual intercourse on one or more occasions. The first-instance Pancl legitimately
concluded, based on the presented evidence, that the injured parties were placed in the
house in Trnovaéa against their will since they did not have an opportunity to genuinely
consent to il, and that the witnesses FWS-186 and FWS-191 were subjugated 1o the
conditions that amount to sexual slavery. Therefore, the first-instance Panel legitimately
concluded that these actions amount to the elements of the criminal offence of torture
duc to the pain and suffering imposcd on the injured panies and the discriminatory
intcntion which is in the basis of that crime.

Having analysed the challenged Verdict in the part that pertains to the punishmen,
contrary 10 the averments in the appeal the Appellate Panel finds that the first-instance
Pancl applicd Anticic 48 of the CC of BiH and property meted out the sentence, mindful
of all the circumstances thar have an impact on the duration of the sentence, both
subjective and objective ones, which penain 1o the criminal offence and its perpetrator.
To wit, the first-instance Panel sentenced the Accused to 34 years of imprisonmeni,
which is an adequate punishment given the degrec of the criminal responsibility,
motives of the offence, degree of violation of protected value, number of actions, and
the personal situation of the Accused. The appellaie argumem that the first-instance
Panel should have taken into consideration the fact that the Accused voluntarily tumed
himself in is unfounded in its emirety. All the more, the decisive fact in this regard is
that it was almost nine years that took the Accused (o tum himself in to the relevant
authorities, namely, from 26 June 1996 when the ICTY filed the first Indictment agains
him and issued an arrest warrant until 14 May 2005 when he turned himselfl in. The
faifure of the Accused to tumn himself in during this period of almost nine (9) ycy‘




degradces the meaning of voluntary surrender as a mitigating circumstance. (see Simié et
al. case. Paragraph 1086, Judgmen: of the Trial Chamber dated 17 October 2003).
Funthermore, this Panel holds that the cooperation with judicial authorities may be taken
into consideration in case of entering a guilty plca or an agreement on the admission of
guilt, otherwise every accused person is expected to conduct properly before the Coun
during the proceedings because the law clearly prescribes the measures which may be
taken for the sake of procedural discipline. For the forcgoing reasons, this Panel finds
that the fact that the Accused’s conduct was fair during the procecdings does not
amount 10 a mitigating circumstance in terms of meting oul the sentence. Furthermore,
the issucs conceming the ili health of a convicted person should normally be a matter
for considcration in the execution of the sentence, while only in cxceptional
circumstances or rare cases should ill health be considered as a mitigating circumstance
(see the Simi¢ case, Paragraph 98, Judgmem of the Trial Chamber dated 17 Ociober
2002). However, in this specific case the requirements have not been met 10 consider the
hcalth situation of the accused, Gojko Jankovié, in mitigation. The Appellate Panel
finds that the pronounced sentence is adequate in view of the scverity of the criminal
ofTence of which the Accused was found guilty, where the prolected value is of a wider
social importance and as such it is also treated through international jurisprudence.
Furthermore, it carries a special bearing from the psychological, moral, religious,
customary and other aspects, including the lives of the viciims themselves and their
family members. The Panel finds that the pronounced sentence of long-term
imprisonment was legitimately meied out and is adequate in achieving the purposc of
the criminal sanction and the purpose of seniencing.

Furthermore, having analysed the case filc, and contrary to the appellant’s averments,
the Panel finds that on |5 May 2006, an ex officio Defence Counsel was appointed (or
the Accused based on Anticle 45 (3) of the CPC of BiH, that is, because this Anticle of
the CPC of BiH provides for mandatory defence by prescribing that afler an indictment
has been brought for a criminal offensc for which a prison sentence of ten (10) years or
more may be pronounced, the accused must have a defence attomey at the time of the
delivery of the indictment. Furthermore, it was not proven in the criminal proceedings
that the Accuscd is indigent, so bearing in mind that the Appecllant failed to subslantiate
his arguments based on which the Panel could find that the payment of the criminal
procecdings costs would endanger the subsisience of his family members, the Appellate
Panel finds that the legal requirements have not been met to relieve the Accused of the
duty to reimburse the costs of the criminal procecdings as prescribed by Article 188 (4)
of the CPC of BiH.

Furthermore, aficr the first-instance verdict was handed down, custody of the accused
was extended in line with Anticle 287 of the CPC BiH, as read with Anicle 138 (1) of
the CPC BiH, which, according o the Decision, may last until the verdict becomes
final. Bearing in mind that Anicle 2 of the Law on Amendments 1o the Criminal
Procedurc Code of Bosnia and Herzegovina, dated |3 April 2007, effectively amends
Article 138 (3) of the CPC BiH by allowing that custody, ordered or extended under
Paragraph | of the mentioned article, may last until the person is committed 1o serve his
prison senence, but not longer than the period of punishment imposed by the final
verdict, the Appcllate Panel has reached the decision as stated in the operative part of
the Verdict, so that the time the Accused spent in cusiody between 14 March 2005 ay




the moment of his committal to serve the prison sentence shal! be credited towards the
scntence.

For the foregoing reasons, in line with Anicle 310 (1) as read with Anrticle 314 of the
CPC of BiH, the decision was reached as stated in the operative part of this Verdict.

Record-keeper Presiding Judge
Meclika Buiatli¢ Azra Miletié

LEGAL REMEDY: This Verdict may not be appealed.
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